
MAYOR                      INTERIM  CITY MANAGER 

Brian West Michelle Owens 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Monty Parks Mayor pro tem Jan LeViner 

Bill Garbett  

Spec Hosti 
Tony Ploughe CITY ATTORNEY 

Nick Sears Edward M. Hughes 

Kathryn Williams Tracy O’Connell 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

May 23, 2024 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation:  FR Brett Brannen, St Michael’s Catholic Church 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Announcements 
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 

1. Proclamation:  National Poppy Day 
2. State Municipal Court Clerks Week, June 10-14, 2024 

 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee Island City Council 

3. Minutes:  April 25, 2024 City Council Meeting with attachment 
4. Minutes:  May 15, 2024, Special City Council Meeting 
  

City Manager Discussion and Action Items 
 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 4 minutes.   

5. Britt Bacon: Tybee Arts Association Update 
 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda please come to the podium 
Please limit your comments to 4 minutes. 
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
Consideration of Local Requests & Applications – Funding, Special Events, Alcohol License 

6. River's End Campground Entertainment License Request Entertainment is located in 
center of campground, away from neighbors: Quiet hours begin at 10:00pm 

 
 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 
7. Status of Kiosk Parking Equipment and Shipping/customs Documents 

 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

8. Bubba Hughes:  Ante Litem Demand from Speros 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 
should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 

meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 
prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 

Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 2 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


File Attachments for Item:

1. Proclamation:  National Poppy Day

- Page 3 -



 

 

PROCLAMATION 

Expressing support for the designation of May 24, 2024, as National Poppy Day in Tybee Island 

and recognizing the importance of honoring those who have worn our nation’s uniform; and  

WHEREAS, poppies are worn and displayed as a symbolic tribute to our fallen and the future of 

living veterans and service members; and  

WHEREAS, at the end of World War I, The American Legion adopted the poppy as a symbol of 

freedom and the blood sacrificed by troops in wartimes. The symbolic use of the poppy comes from 

the poem “In Flanders Fields,” which movingly begins, “In Flanders Fields the poppies blow, 

between the crosses, row on row,” referring to the poppies that sprang up in the churned-up earth 

of newly dug soldiers’ graves over parts of Belgium and France; and  

WHEREAS, The American Legion family has long utilized the red poppy as its official flower, 

symbolizing the blood shed by those who have served in our U.S. military, and  

WHEREAS, wearing a poppy will unite citizens from across the country who decide to show their 

patriotism; and  

WHEREAS, May 24, 2024, would be an appropriate date to designate as National Poppy Day.  

Now, therefore, be it Resolved, that THE MAYOR and CITY COUNCIL OF TYBEE ISLAND, GA: 

(1) supports the designation of May 24, 2024 as National Poppy Day; and  

(2) encourages all citizens, residents and visitors in Tybee Island to join in observing this 

day to honor every service member who has died in the name of liberty, freedom and 

democracy while also showing their support for living veterans, service members and their 

families.  

 

                                                                                                    

 

- Page 4 -Item #1.



File Attachments for Item:

2. National Municipal Court Clerks Week, June 10-14, 2024

- Page 5 -



MAYOR
Brian West

CITY COUNCIL
Monty Parks Mayor pro tem
Bill Garbett
Michael "Spec" Hosti
Tony Ploughe
Nick Sears
KathrYn Williams

INTERIM CITY MANAGER
Michelle Owens

CITY CLERK
Janet LeViner

CITY ATTORNEY
Edward M. Hughes

Tracy O'Connell

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND

CITY PROCLAMATION/RESOLUTION
IN RE,COGNITION OF MUNICIPAL COURT CLERKS WEEK

June 10-14, 2024

WHEREAS, Municipal Court Clerks play a significant role in ensuring that municipal courts
preserve public safety and promote quality oflife in the City of Tybee Island and local
municipalities across the state:

WHEREAS, the procedures for the City of Tybee Island Municipal Court operations are set forth
by the Uniform Rules of Municipal Court and other laws of the State of Georgia;

WHEREAS, more people come in contact with Municipal Court Clerks than all other city
services combined and public impression ofthe City ofTybee Islandjudicial system is largely
dependent upon the public's experience in municipal court;

WHEREAS, Municipal Court Clerks have pledged to be ever mindful of their neutrality and
impartiality, rendering equal service to all;

WHEREAS, the City of Tybee Island Municipal Court is committed to the notion that our legal
system is based on the principle that an independent, fair, and competent judiciary will interpret
and apply the laws that govem us; Municipal Court Clerks act in a manner that promotes public
confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary;

WHEREAS, it is most appropriate that we recognize the accomplishments and significant role
the Municipal Court Clerks play in preserving the public confidence, integrity and impartiality of
the judiciary.

SO PROCLAMIED this _ day of 2024

Citv Clerk

P.O. Box 27 49 - 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-27 49
(866) 786-4s73 - FAX (866) 786-s737

www.ci(voftybee.org

Now, therefore, I, Brian West, Mayor of the City of Tybee Island, do recognize the week of June
10-14,2024, as Municipal Court Clerks Week and further extend appreciation to our Municipal
Court Clerks for the vital services they perform and their exemplary dedication to the
communities they represent and serve.

Mayor

- Page 6 -Item #2.



File Attachments for Item:

3. Minutes:  April 25, 2024 with attachments

- Page 7 -



 

 

City Council Minutes, April 25, 2024 
 
Mayor West called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, April 25, 2024.  Those in attendance 
were, Nick Sears, Monty Parks, Kathryn Williams, Tony Ploughe, Spec Hosti, and Bill 
Garbett.  Also attending were Michelle Owens, Interim City Manager; Bubba Hughes, City 
Attorney; Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney; and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.   
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation:  Rev. Sue Jackson, Trinity Methodist Church 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Mayor West thanked everyone that contributed to a successful weekend to include the 
City’s leadership for putting together a collaborated public safety and successful 
implementation plan.  He also thanked those who cleaned the beaches Saturday, Sunday, 
and Monday; local businesses; local churches; STR rental companies; and Staff and 
individuals who came to help serve food and clean.  Mayor West continued to thank those 
who contributed to include CEMA who contacted GaDOT to turn all the lights green to 
clear traffic.  The City is aware of an impending event, Peach Fest, another unpermitted 
event, anticipated for Saturday, April 27, 2024 and the City is monitoring the situation 
and will be prepared to handle if the event occurs.   
 
Chief Hayes approached Mayor and Council to give an update on the weekend.  Chief 
Hayes stated, “How do you measure success for something like this?”  Everyone arrived 
safely and everyone went home safely.  There were 54 arrests, which included 17 DUI’s, 
18 felony arrests, and nine (9) firearms taken.  There were no shots fired and no shootings, 
which in years past the City has had both.  She thanked everyone, especially those who 
maned the barricades which kept traffic out of the neighborhoods.   
 
Mayor West asked Julia Pearce to come forward to introduce the delegation from Cape 
Coast, Ghana.  Ms. Pearce thanked the community for supporting their visit.  She then 
introduced the Honorable Mayor Ernest Arthur, Cape Coast, Ghana.  There was an 
exchange in gifts and Mayor West thanked the delegation for visiting Tybee.  He also said 
that he looked forward to a visit to Cape Coast, Ghana.   
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  

 Minutes:  City Council Meeting, April 11, 2024, as amended 

 Budget Amendments 

o Amendment #1:  To use unassigned fund balance to cover the unexpected 
and/or additional costs related to information technology and legal.   

o Amendment #2:  To use unassigned fund balance to cover three quarters of 
costs related to the City's dune monitoring project with Skid-away Institute 

o Amendment #3:  To use fund balance reserved for beach related projects to 
fund the City's planning work for the beach nourishment project with US 
Corps of Engineers.   

 Second Reading, 2024-02, GMEBS-R, City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit 

Retirement Plan 

- Page 8 -Item #3.



 

 

 Resolution:  Tybee Island Resilience Resolution.  Discussion:  Mayor West 
stated Chatham County has requested all municipalities in Chatham County to sign 
and adopt.   

 
City Manager Discussion and Action Items 
Ms. Owens stated the City hosted the DNR Commissioner and two deputies for a tour 
of the beach.   
 
James Bennett approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Bennett welcomed the delegation 
from Cape Coast, Ghana and thanked Mayor and Council for the “open arms” extended 
to the delegation.  He also commended Mayor and Council for a successful weekend.  
Mayor West thanked Mr. Bennett for his comments.   
 
Dawn Shay approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Shay read from a prepared statement 
(attached) regarding Item #5 on the agenda, Budget Amendments.  Mayor West thanked 
Ms. Shay. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  Tony Ploughe seconded.  
Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 
Tracy O'Connell introduced 2024-07:  Potential Amendment of Ordinance on 
the Temporary Use of Recreational Vehicles.  Ms. O’Connell stated this is dealing 
with two issues:  (1) tighten up the definition of dwelling purposes to help Code 
Enforcement and (2) to assist residents who are participating in the Hazard Mitigation 
Grant Program so they have a place to live during the lifting process.  She continued, as 
this is contained within the LDC, it would have to go to Planning Commission if Mayor 
and Council decide to take action.  Ms. Williams stated she understands this is written 
specifically to deal with the FEMA mitigation issue but if another event hits the Island 
and other residents will need to lift and put an RV on their property while their house is 
being fixed, would we have to come back with a new ordinance.  Ms. O’Connell confirmed 
and if it is the desire to make more board or more restrictive, they could do so.  Mr. 
Hughes stated once there is an Emergency Declaration in place, zoning is more or less 
suspended and directed by the Resolution.  Mr. Ploughe asked how many times this has 
happened in past years.  Ms. O’Connell stated there was an incident in 2020 that was 
handled under an Emergency Resolution and has come up in the last couple of months as 
there are a couple of homeowners trying to figure how they can do the Grant and still 
financially do it instead of having two grants or two more payments. Mayor West asked if 
Mayor and Council need to provide direction.  Ms. O’Connell made reference to Sec 3-
110(c) as it allows for recreational vehicles only if they have a permit up to seven days and 
allowed to do it three times per year.  The proposed ordinance is to address that situation 
and allow an exception for those inside the Grant to be able to get around that if they need 
to stay for six or seven months while they are building their new home.  Spec Hosti made 
a motion to send to the Planning Commission for their review and comments.  Monty 
Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous, 6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti asked Mayor and Council if they would like to move forward with gathering 

information on Workforce Housing.  Mayor West stated the City has an opportunity 

to obtain grant money for the specific purpose of creating workforce housing.  This money 

could be used to purchase property as well.  Mr. Parks stated this is a very loosely defined 

- Page 9 -Item #3.



 

 

new program and there are not a lot of guidelines or rules and questions as to who can 

live there and who cannot.  Mr. Host would like to invite someone from the program to 

come and speak to them.  Mayor and Council could then set the guidelines.  Mr. Sears 

confirmed with Mr. Hosti that he would like to gather additional information prior to 

moving forward.  Mr. Hosti stated he would move forward. 

Tony Ploughe would like to move forward with funding and financial assistance options 

for the Savannah River side of North Beach erosion that is documented in part due to ship 

traffic. Mayor West stated this was discussed at a recent workshop and it was 

determined the City needed someone with expertise to speak to Mayor and Council.  Alan 

Robertson approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Robertson gave a brief update on future 

re-nourishments due to dune erosion.  He stated at a recent workshop, representatives 

from GHD, Coastal Engineers, gave an update on the assessment Mayor and Council 

asked them to do.  It was determined it would cost approximately $30,000 to complete 

the assessment.  Mr. Robertson stated the permit is still in place and would provide the 

City the opportunity, with a simple letter of permit, a staff administrative process, to let 

the City do the same thing again, 20,000 cubic yards of sand, to rebuild the dune as it was 

in 2017.  He stated the long-term solution seems to be the repair of the south jetty in the 

Savannah Channel that is under review by the COE and GPA as part of their new 

Savannah Channel expansion.  He recommended to proceed with the DNR, if the permit 

is still in place and he believes it is, and estimated the cost at $1M.  The project has been 

done before and can be done again but it is a little more complicated than the south-end 

dune but the same size project.  Mayor West thanked Mr. Robertson.  Mr. Ploughe stated 

financing is an issue and we need to move forward with the project.  Mr. Robertson 

reminded Mayor and Council with turtle season, the project would be delayed until the 

season is over in the fall.  Mr. Ploughe stated he has a resolution drafted to hire GHD for 

$30,000, which will help the City with solutions for the dune.  Mr. Robertson responded 

he would reach out to GHD to see if they can assist in the stabilization of the dune.  He is 

moving forward with DNR with a letter of permit for stabilization.  Mr. Parks thanked Mr. 

Ploughe for pursuing this issue.  Ms. Williams asked Ms. Owens how would like factor 

into the FY25 budget.  Ms. Owens stated they have not accounted for it and they would 

have to revisit.   

Kathryn Williams would like to have an explanation of the IT Department and 

budget at the May 9, 2024 meeting.  Ms. Williams would like to know what safeguards 

have been put in place to preclude this happening again. 

Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote was 6-0 to 

adjourn. 

Meeting adjourned at 8:00PM. 

 

_____________________ 

Jan LeViner, MMC 

Clerk 

- Page 10 -Item #3.



- Page 11 -Item #3.



- Page 12 -Item #3.



File Attachments for Item:

4. Minutes:  May 15, 2024, Special City Council Meeting,

- Page 13 -



 

Special City Council Minutes, May 15, 2024 
 
Mayor West called the special meeting to order at 4:30PM, May 15, 2024.  Those in 
attendance were, Nick Sears, Monty Parks, Spec Hosti, Kathryn Williams, Tony Ploughe, 
and Bill Garbett.  Also attending were Michelle Owens, Interim City Manager; Bubba 
Hughes, City Attorney; and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.   
 
Call to Order 
 
Tiffany Hayes, Chief, Tybee Island Police Department approached Mayor and 
Council.  Chief Hayes stated the department is fully staffed as is the 911-call center.  Also, 
in the FY25 budget there are two (2) additional officers which will be used for swing shifts 
for weekends and holidays.  Mayor West thanked Chief Hayes. 
 
Jim Klutz approached Mayor and Council.  It is his recommendation that when Mayor 
and Council are discussing the FY25 Budget, they include a portion of the general fund 
for investments.  Mayor West thanked Mr. Klutz. 
 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements, and Expenditures 
Agreement:  METRIC Group Limited and City of Tybee Island.  Mr. Hughes 
recommended signing the Two Party Agreement that has been signed by Nicholas Heal, 
Metric Group.  It is his recommendation the Mayor does not sign the General Agreement 
of Indemnity, as there are still issues that need to be addressed. Monty Parks made a 
motion to revisit the Metric Agreement at the May 23rd City Council Meeting.  Nick Sears 
seconded.  Vote was unanimous, 6-0 to approve.   
Memorandum of Agreement:  Visit Tybee and City of Tybee Island:  Info Hut.  
Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Nick Sears seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to approve, 6-0. 
Indigent Defense Services Agreement:  Jennifer Ozer and City of Tybee 
Island.  Kathryn Williams made a motion to approve.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote 
was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
First Amendment to the Master Services and Purchasing Agreement:  AXON.  
Chief Hayes approached Mayor and Council.  Chief Hayes explained the contract for 
new cameras and body cams.  She stated the contract is due to expire and the vendor will 
no longer service the cameras and body cams due to their age.  This is a bundle contract 
and she recommends approval.  Tony Ploughe made a motion to approve.  Kathryn 
Williams seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
   
Bubba Hughes gave a brief update on the  TMSC Solar Panels.  Mr. Hughes   stated 

there is a possible exception relating to a performance contract for energy savings 

program that has been proposed and the installation of the solar panels will enhance the 

building.  With the City insuring and if this is an energy savings performance contract, it 

would be doable without having to comply with the Public Works Construction Law.     

 
Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss Real Estate, 
Litigation, and Personnel.  Nick Sears seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 

- Page 14 -Item #4.



 

 
 

 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn to regular session.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote 
was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to approve, 6-0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 6:00PM. 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

- Page 15 -Item #4.



File Attachments for Item:

6. River's End Campground Entertainment License Request

Entertainment is located in center of campground, away from neighbors: Quiet hours begin at 

10:00pm

- Page 16 -



- Page 17 -Item #6.



- Page 18 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Status of Kiosk Parking Equipment and Shipping/customs Documents

- Page 19 -



- Page 20 -Item #7.



- Page 21 -Item #7.



- Page 22 -Item #7.



- Page 23 -Item #7.



- Page 24 -Item #7.



- Page 25 -Item #7.



- Page 26 -Item #7.



- Page 27 -Item #7.



- Page 28 -Item #7.



- Page 29 -Item #7.



- Page 30 -Item #7.



- Page 31 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. Bubba Hughes:  Ante Litem demand from Speros

- Page 32 -



- Page 33 -Item #8.



- Page 34 -Item #8.


	Top
	Item #1.	Proclamation:  National Poppy Day
	Proclamation for Poppy Day May 24, 2024

	Item #2.	National Municipal Court Clerks Week, June 10-14, 2024
	2024 PROCLAMATION FOR CLERKS WEEK

	Item #3.	Minutes:  April 25, 2024 with attachments
	20240425AmendedMinutes (2) (1)
	Dawn Shay

	Item #4.	Minutes: May 15, 2024, Special City Council Meeting, May 15, 2024
	Minutes

	Item #5.	Britt Bacon: Tybee Arts Association Update
	Item #6.	Agenda Request: Entertainment License: River's End Campground
	Rivers End Campground-Entertainment License

	Item #7.	Status of Kiosk Parking Equipment and Shipping/customs Documents
	0072_001

	Item #8.	Bubba Hughes:  Ante Litem demand from Speros
	0069_001

	Bottom



